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INTRODUCTION 

Broadoaks was a late nineteenth-century country house, with about 70 acres 

of land.  The house was built in the 1870s off Parvis Road, West Byfleet, 

Surrey.  It was greatly extended in the Edwardian period. 

Up until the second world war, Broadoaks was owned and occupied by 

members of several notable families, including Sir Charles Tennant and the 

Charrington brewing family. 

In 1947, the house was sold, acquired by the Ministry of Supply and used by 

the Ministry of Defence (MOD), in various guises, until the mid-1990s.  A large 

L-shaped extension was added in the 1970s. 

Changes in the management and structure of the MOD meant the house and 

land was then sold for development, in 1998.  Various schemes for 

redevelopment were proposed but none came to fruition and the house stood 

empty until the plans for a residential park, Broadoaks Park, were approved in 

2018.  
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EARLY HISTORY 

In the early 19th century, the 

area of West Byfleet (then 

the western part of the 

parish of Byfleet) was largely 

heathland with a few farms. 

The earliest detailed map of 

the area around Broadoaks 

is John Roque’s map of 

Surrey, surveyed in 1787 

(Figure 1).  It shows the site 

of Broadoaks as ‘plough-

land’.  There are no 

buildings marked. 
 

Figure 1. John Roque’s map of 1787 

The 1840 Tithe map and award1 

shows James Sparkes Esq.r 

owning and occupying Shepards 

Farm.  The 1841 census, does 

not list anyone occupying the 

site – James was obviously living 

elsewhere and employing 

someone to farm the land.  The 

1841 census also shows a 

William Skeet, farmer, living in 

Chertsey.  

By the time of the 1851 census, 

William Skeet is occupying 

Shepards Farm; he is shown as a 

farmer of 60 acres and was 

employing ‘two labourers and 

two sons’.  A rating valuation, 

thought to date to 1847, also 

shows William as occupying the 

farm2. 

 
Figure 2. 82 acres of Shepards Farm 

The twenty acres to the north of Parvis Road is 

presumed to be the difference between the 1851 and 

1861 census figures 

The 1861 census records the building as Sheppard Farm.  William was then 

working 82 acres and was employing three men.  William died in 1865 and his 

wife, Sarah, three years later. 

The farm, recorded as ‘Shepard’s Farm’, is shown on the 1870 Ordnance 

Survey plan; also shown are a pair of cottages and a building called ‘Tins’.  

 
1 SHC, 864/1/21-22, Byfleet tithe apportionment Confirmed: 2 Sep 1840 

2 SHC, 2607/3/1, Valuation of Byfleet parish based on tithe apportionment 
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Tins is shown as a separate estate on the 1895 OS plan, but was later 

incorporated into the Broadoaks estate. 

 
Figure 3. 1870 Ordnance Survey plan 

In the mid-19th century, James Sparks of West Lodge (later West Hall) owned 

some 460 acres of land (including Shepards Farm) in Byfleet parish.  He sold 

Shepards Farm to a Mr Dowdeswell in 1862.3 

In 1872, St John’s church 

was started as a daughter 

church of St Mary’s in 

Byfleet.  Services were in a 

temporary iron building next 

to what would become the 

entrance to Hobbs Close.4  In 

1912, the current church at 

Byfleet Corner was dedicated;  

the iron church building was 

later acquired by the National 

Rifle Association. 

It is said that the communion 

 
Figure 4. 1895 Ordnance Survey plan 

plate currently in use by the church was presented by Major Collis-Browne 

whilst he was resident at Broadoaks, 1885-99 (see page 11).5 

 
3 Byfleet, a Village of England, Leonard R Stevens, 1952 
4 The Tin Tabernacles of Surrey, Gerard P Moss, Surrey History Vol 16 2017 
5 Surrey Advertiser 11 May 1946 
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A COUNTRY HOUSE 

CHARLES EDWARD SETH-SMITH 

Charles Edward Seth Smith was born in 

Streatham on 26th February 1847.  Later in life he 

seems to have hyphenated his last Christian name 

and his surname. 

He was called to the bar in the Inner Temple in  

1877. 

On 1 June 1882, Charles married Florence Maude 

Stevenson.  After giving him three children, 

Florence died in 1890, aged 30. 

Charles Seth-Smith was a liberal supporter of the 

Royal Naval Volunteers, the London corps of which 

he became Lieutenant-Commander.  When this 

was disbanded by the Admiralty in 1892, he 

received a Companionship of the Bath. 

 
Figure 5. Charles Edward 

Seth-Smith C.B. (1847-94) 

 
Figure 6. Master Certificate 
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In 1865, Charles bought Shepards Farm.  On part of the land, he built the 

house Highfield (presumably so called because it stood on the highest part of 

the land), which he rented out.6 

In 1876, Charles apparently had 

his younger brother, Ernest, 

build a new house, Broadoaks, 

for him.7  Ernest was born in 

1852 and was just 24 years old.  

In the 1881 census, Ernest is 

recorded as a ‘builder’.   

It is likely that by commissioning 

a house from him, Charles was 

helping to kick-start his brother’s 

career (he presumably also got it 

at a good price). 

Ernest’s building career was 

quite short – in 1891 he is shown  

 
Figure 7. Broadoaks in 1895 

as ‘living on own means and private estate agent to father’. 

The house was essentially a simple rectangle in shape (red in Figure 7), with 

bay windows.  A garden was laid out to the east and south.  A driveway led up 

to the house with a lodge at the entrance on Parvis Road.  The house of 

Shepards Farm (yellow) became an ancillary building - George Bruzaud states 

that it became the gardener’s cottage.8 

Immediately to the west (left in Figure 7) of the main house was another 

building which may have been servants’ quarters and/or a kitchen and 

scullery. 

There is no evidence that Charles actually lived in the house – indeed it 

suggests otherwise.  In the 1878 and 1879 electoral rolls9, Charles is shown as 

having a vote ‘in respect of the occupation of premises’ under the 

Representation of the People Act, 1867.  His abode is shown as Walton-on-

Thames however, so he is obviously renting the house out. 

From 1877 until the early-to-mid 1880s, Broadoaks was occupied by Mrs 

Elizabeth Cator (née Blakeney).  Elizabeth was the widow of Albemarle Cator 

 
6 Byfleet, a Village of England, Leonard R Stevens, 1952 
7 This is stated as fact by all modern accounts;  I have been unable to verify it with an original 

source 
8 SHC, 8463/3/1-2, Research notebooks of George Bruzaud relating to history and houses of 
Byfleet 
9 SHC, QS6/7A/103, Surrey Electoral Registers  



10 

who, in 1861, was living in Woodbastwick Hall, Norfolk and was described as 

‘country gentleman’.10 

In September 1877, Elizabeth’s daughter, Mary, was married in St Mary’s 

church, Byfleet.  They had by then been at Broadoaks long enough for her to 

be “a bride of whom all the villagers speak in terms of affection and regard”11.  

The 1881 census describes Elizabeth as widow and ‘funded proprietor’.  She 

had two of her sons, Edward and Henry, living with her.  There are also a 

number of visitors and several servants (see Figure 8).   

 
Figure 8. Extract from 1881 census 

Edward Cator married in April 1885 (by which time Elizabeth had just turned 

70).  Henry had joined the priesthood and was living in the Oratory at 

Kensington, Middlesex.  Broadoaks was now probably just too large for 

Elizabeth.  Around this time, she moved to Kensington, where she was residing 

at her death in 1892. 

 
10 Elizabeth’s great-granddaughter, Elizabeth Margaret Cator, married The Honourable Michael 

Claude Hamilton Bowes-Lyon in 1928 
11 Surrey Advertiser 8 September 1877 
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WILLIAM COLLIS-BROWN 

William Alfred Collis-Browne was born in Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, in 

1853.  He was the son of Dr John Collis Browne. 

Chlorodyne 

Dr. John Collis Browne, a British army surgeon in India, invented a remedy for cholera-

infected patients in the fifth decade of the 19th century. 

Following his resignation from the army, 

he went into partnership with a London 

pharmacist, John Thistlewood Davenport, 

for the purpose of manufacture and 

marketing as a patented medicine named 

Chlorodyne. Chlorodyne was well-

accepted as paregoric for several decades.  

The formula of Chlorodyne was adopted 

in the 3rd Revision of the British 

Pharmacopoeia (1885) as "Compound 

Tincture of Chloroform and Morphine".  

William took a commission in the 2nd Royal Tower Hamlets Militia, in 1870.  In 

November 1884, then serving in the 5th Bn the Rifle Brigade, aged 31, he was 

promoted to Major.  Nine months later he resigned his commission – his father 

had died in August 1884 and his will was proved in February 1885.  Although 

John Collis Browne is reported to have made only a small fortune from 

Chlorodyne, it is likely that William came into a substantial inheritance. 

William began renting Broadoaks from Charles Seth-Smith in 1885 and had 

bought the house by 1892.12  William had married Mary Ann Bannister in 

1878; they likely saw Broadoaks as a family home as their first child was born 

there in October 1885. 

There had probably been only a 

skeleton staff left to look after the 

house, as William and Mary soon 

began to advertise for staff.  
Figure 9. Advertisement 1886 

At this time, the estate was still a working farm, apparently with a small dairy 

herd.  William employed a cowman to look after that side.  He took a keen 

interest in agriculture and was heavily involved with the Chertsey Agricultural 

Society, becoming vice-chairman and donating a number of prizes at shows.  

He also won prizes for flowers, his gardener being credited. 

 
Figure 10. Advertisement 1888 

 
Figure 11. Advertisement 1891 

 
12 SHC, QS6/7A/103, Surrey Electoral Registers 
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William also retained an interest in the militia and gave generous support to 

the local force. 

 

 
Figure 12. West Surrey Times 

17 August 1888 

In 1889, William had some ‘extensive 

alterations’ done to the house.  They 

possibly extended the house to join to 

the western block, forming a small  

internal courtyard.  In October that 

same year, William sold the house to 

Sir Charles Tennant.  

 
Figure 13. West Surrey Times 20 July 1889 
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Figure 14. Broadoaks prior to addition of the east and south extensions 
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SIR CHARLES & LADY MARGUERITE TENNANT 

Charles Clow Tennant was born in 

Glasgow in 1823, the son of John Tennant 

and Robina Arrol.  His grandfather was 

the chemist and industrialist Charles 

Tennant. 

He became President of the United Alkali 

Company and Chairman of the Union 

Bank of Scotland.  Tennant also sat as 

Member of Parliament for Glasgow from 

1879 to 1880 and for Peebles and Selkirk 

from 1880 to 1886. 

Charles's first marriage was to Emma 

Winsloe, daughter of Richard Winsloe, in 

1849.  After her death in 1895, he 

remarried, in 1898, to Marguerite 

Agaranthe Miles, whom he had met on the 

golf course at Biarritz. 

In   Autumn  1899,   Sir  Charles   bought    

 
Figure 15. Sir Charles Tennant 

(1823-1906) 

Broadoaks from Major Collis-Browne.  He spent substantial sums extending 

the house and remodelling the grounds, before moving in in early 1901. 

   

Figure 16. Broadoaks on 1895 and 1912 OS plans 

The main house was extended, extensions being added to the ground and first 

floors at the east end and at the south-east corner.  The field to the front was 

laid out as an ornamental lawn and the pond filled in.  The driveway swept 

around this lawn and led back to Parvis Road where a new, second, lodge was 

built.  The cottage, Tins, was demolished.  A large brick-built stable block cum 

coach house was built near to the new East Lodge.   
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Figure 17. Coach house c.2018 

Additionally a third driveway, without 

a lodge, was constructed to the west 

which ran to two semi-detached villas, 

Melbene and Bindon. It also appears 

to have given access to the ancillary 

buildings and to have been for the use 

of servants and tradesmen. 

 
Figure 18. 1909 advertisement 

Sir Charles’s second wife, Marguerite, was 

a talented amateur musician and he 

bought the Lady Tennant Stradivarius13 

for her as a gift. 

 
Figure 19. Marguerite in later life 

 
Figure 20. Lady Marguerite Tennant 

 
13 In April 2005, the Lady Tennant sold for a record $2,032,000 at auction in New York 
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The east extension to the ground floor of the house was used as a music room 

and was fitted with a sprung floor, for dancing. 

 
Figure 21. Music Room 

 
Figure 22. Music Room – piano 

 

 
Figure 23. Dining room 

Note portrait of Sir Charles above fireplace 

 
Figure 24. Boudoir 

Sir Charles was a very keen golfer throughout his life and was captain of 

nearby New Zealand Golf Club in 1896/97.  

Sir Charles did not live to enjoy the fruits of his expenditure for long.  In March 

1906, he was taken ill while at Biarritz, the King (Edward VII) sending his own 

physician to visit him.14  Sir Charles arrived back at Broadoaks at the end of 

May.  Although he appeared to rally, he suffered a haemorrhage and died on 

4th June, aged 83. 

In his will15, Sir Charles left nothing to his wife other than the wines, spirits 

and consumable stores in his London home and any of his horses, motors and 

carriages that she might select.  He stated that he had amply provided for her 

 
14 Daily News 6 June 1906 
15 Principal Probate Registry, 1906 1024, Sir Charles Tennant 
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by the settlement on their marriage and several post nuptial settlements.  It is 

likely that Broadoaks was in her name from the time of purchase. 

Geoffrey Lubbock 

In 1907, Lady Marguerite (still only 39) remarried, 

to Geoffrey Lubbock, a London banker.  Geoffrey 

was a partner in the firm of Robarts & Lubbock, 

based in Lombard Street. 

Geoffrey, on his marrying the wealthy widow, 

received a golf course as a wedding gift.  She 

purchased the land lease for West Hill16 and had a 

golf course constructed.  Marguerite had been 

unable to play golf locally as women were not 

admitted memberships; by establishing her own 

club she could ensure that women should be able 

to become members.  

Geoffrey, who had been instrumental in the design 

of the course, was captain of the golf club from 

1909 until 1922. 

 
 Figure 25. Geoffrey Lubbock 

Marguerite and Geoffrey continued to live at Broadoaks until 1911.  It appears 

that Geoffrey spent much of his time in London.  

 
Figure 26.  1910 Bazaar and Fancy Fete 

Whilst at Broadoaks, 

Margeuerite and 

Charles were 

generous supporters 

of the local 

community.  As well 

as opening their 

grounds for specific 

events they were 

members of local 

societies, entering 

competitions, 

donating prizes and 

participating on 

committees. 

 

 
16 Near Brookwood, on land purchased from the London Necropolis Company 
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 Figure 27. West Surrey Times 

30 July 1910 

 

 

 

 

Figure 28. Surrey Advertiser 

4 July 1910  
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Geoffrey and Marguerite’s two sons, Peter and David, were born in January 

1909 and March 1911 respectively; both were baptised in St John’s church 

(the old iron one). 

The 1911 census shows the family at Broadoaks with a few visitors and many 

servants.  The live-in household servants were: A governess, a ladies maid, a 

monthly nurse, a housekeeper, three housemaids, a schoolroom maid, a chef, 

a kitchen maid, a scullery maid, a nursery maid, a children’s nurse, two 

butlers, a footman and a hall man.  Outside, there were five gardeners, a 

chauffeur, two coachmen and a groom. 

In July 1911, Marguerite put Broadoaks up for auction.  An advertisement, 

dated 8th July, states that it would be auctioned on the 20th unless previously 

sold;17  Messrs Collins and Collins described it thus: 

“A delightful and convenient-sized residential estate, extending to 71½ acres, 

situated in one of the most picturesque districts of Surrey, affording first-rate 

residential and social advantages: also within close proximity to Ascot, 

Guildford Dorking &c, and several famous golf links, and within 20 miles of 

London by a good motoring road, and 34 minutes by fast trains. 

The Residence stands in a miniature park and has had many thousands of 

pounds lavished upon it. Making it one of the most complete and up-to-date 

establishments in the country.  Every room is most artistically decorated, and 

the principal rooms are exquisitely panelled in costly woods or silks.   

The bedrooms are arranged in suites, each having fitted bath-room and 

dressing room.  Electric lighting installed throughout, besides a perfect 

system of fire-extinguishing and heating radiators. 

The beautifully disposed grounds include magnificent Italian pergolas and 

wide spreading lawns rose gardens, &c. 

In addition there is a model up-to-date laundry and farmery, covered tennis 

court18, gymnasium, ample cottages and lodges, model dairy (one of the finest 

in England), &c, the whole of which premises are lighted throughout by 

electricity. 

 

 

 

 

Figure 29. Model dairy 

Grade II listed 2 July 1997  

 

 
17 The Field 8 July 1911 
18 For real tennis, rather than lawn tennis 
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CHARLES EDWARD NICHOLAS CHARRINGTON 

Charles Edward Nicholas Charrington 

was born into the Charrington 

brewing family in 1859.  The family 

owned one of the oldest breweries in 

the UK, founded in London’s East End 

in 1766.  His father was Charles 

Charrington.  When his father died in 

1877, Charles junior became a 

partner in the firm, inheriting his 

father’s shares.  He went on to become 

Managing Director of the company. 

 

 

Figure 30. C E N Charrington 

as a small child 
 

In 1889, aged 30, Charles married Monica Lilly de la Pasture, 20.  Together 

they had a daughter, Dorothea Elizabeth.  In 1892, Monica began an affair 

with Lord Cowley.  By 1895, Charles knew of the affair and that year separated 

from his wife; Monica was given an allowance of £2,000 p.a. and denied 

custody of her daughter, Dorothea, apparently abandoning her.  In 1902, 

Charles was granted a divorce on account of Monica’s adultery with Sir George 

Bullough.19 

Charles, then aged 44, remarried in 1903, to Isabel Marguerite Dean, 24.   

In 1911, Charles Charrington bought Broadoaks.  He was downsizing – in April 

that year he had advertised for sale one of his previous houses, Frensham Hill.  

That estate was described as having 562 acres, the house having 23 principal 

bedrooms.20 

The marriage with Isabel was not a happy one.  In 1914, Isabel was granted a 

divorce on the grounds that Charles refused to live with her and denied her her 

conjugal rights.  In her petition (dated July 1914), Isabel states that Charles 

was living at Sunningdale, Berkshire, whilst she was living in Hove, Sussex.21 

In 1915, Charles married for the third time.  His wife was Elaine Taylor, aged 

35. 

Charles seems at this time to have rented Broadoaks (or even lent it) to Urban 

Broughton and his wife Cara.  They had recently returned from America (1912) 

 
19 TNA, J 77/760/3142, Court for Divorce and Matrimonial Causes 
20 The Field 29 April 1911 
21 TNA, J 77/1167/5481, Court for Divorce and Matrimonial Causes 
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and were presumably house hunting (they had a London house in Mayfair).  It 

is unclear how much time they spent there, but enough to be described as ‘of 

Broadoaks’.  They left Broadoaks when they purchased a house in Park Close, 

Englefield Green. 

Cara was the daughter of US 

industrialist Henry Huttleston 

Rogers, President of Standard 

Oil (Esso).  She became involved 

with charitable work for soldiers 

during the war. 

 
Figure 31. West Surrey Times Jan 1915 

 
Figure 32. Miss Cara Leland Rogers 

By 1917, Charles and Elaine were living in Broadoaks.   

Broadoaks was put up for sale at auction in June 1919.22  The sales 

particulars tell us that the main house had 24 bedrooms, 8 bathrooms, 5 

reception rooms and a billiard room. 

Either Charles changed his mind about selling, or perhaps, so soon after the 

war, he simply couldn’t find a buyer.  Charles and Elaine stayed at the house. 

They seem to have had a happy life there.  Charles died in the house on 7th 

January 1936, aged 76.  Elaine continued to live there until 1946.  Elaine died 

in London in September 1967. 

Charrington Manor Care Home, which opened in Hobbs Close in 2022, was 

named as a tribute to Charles “one of the area’s longest-serving and best-

known residents”. 

 
22 SHC, SP/2/4, Messrs Alfred Savill & Sons: Broadoaks, West Byfleet: freehold mansion, in 

grounds and parklands 



22 

 
Figure 33. 1919 sale plan 

The covered tennis court and gymnasium is the rectangular building in the 

woods, to the north of Parvis Road, opposite the lawn tennis club  
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THE MOD YEARS 

MINISTRY OF SUPPLY 

The Ministry of Supply (MoS) was a department of the UK government formed 

on 1 August 1939 by the Ministry of Supply Act 1939 to co-ordinate the supply 

of equipment to all three British armed forces. 

The Ministry of Supply also took over all army research establishments in 

1939. The Ministry of Aircraft Production was abolished in 1946, and the MoS 

took over its responsibilities for aircraft, including the associated research 

establishments.  

OPERATIONAL ANALYSIS 

Patrick Maynard Stuart Blackett was a young naval officer who had seen 

considerable combat in WWI. In WWII, he played a crucial role in devising 

tactics that would contribute to the end of the Nazi U-boats as a significant 

threat to the trans-Atlantic convoys, which sustained Britain.  He would go on 

to win a Nobel prize for physics in 1946. 

When World War II broke out, Blackett was first assigned to help exploit the 

new technology of radar, which was key in Britain’s defence against German 

aircraft during the Battle of Britain.  Britain built a string of radar stations 

called the Chain Home (CH) along the coast facing the English Channel.  It was 

here that Blackett first used his combination of analytical, technical, and 

practical skills. 

Blackett was a strong proponent of using data and analytics to better exploit 

the resources you had available, rather than waiting and hoping for some “next 

big thing” breakthrough technology. 

AORG 

After Blackett left Anti-Aircraft Command for RAF Coastal Command, in 1941, 

the Army Operational Research Group (AORG) was formed by Sir Charles 

Darwin, grandson of the famous naturalist.  AORG was placed under the 

Ministry of Supply, limiting its direct access to the Army.23 

In 1947, Broadoaks was bought by compulsory order, at a cost of £400024, for 

the Ministry of Supply.25  They intended to use it for ‘analysing and examining 

the effects of shell-bursts, etc.’.  The actual explosions would take place 

elsewhere.26  

 
23 Copp, Terry "Operation Research and 21 Army Group." Canadian Military History 3, 1 

(1994) 
24 SHC, J/510/2, Byfleet Heritage (2005), A history of Broadoaks (Gristwood, Helen) 
25 Country Life 7 February 1947 
26 Surrey Advertiser 1 November 1947 
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The majority of the site was surrounded by a security fence.  This closed off 

the two entrances by the east and west lodges.  The third driveway (to Melbene 

and Bindon) became the main entrance to the site. 

AORG had been dissembled in 1946, with much of it being amalgamated into 

the Microbiological Research Department at Porton Down.  In 1948, a new 

Army Operational Research Group (AORG) was formed at West Byfleet from the  

Military Weapons Research Unit 

and the Operations Research 

Group (Weapons & Equipment).  

Broadoaks house provided most 

of the offices whilst a number of 

prefabricated buildings were 

erected for additional offices and 

technical labs.  The coach-house 

was used to house a small fleet 

of military vehicles. 

Figure 34. Coach-house with 1943 

Bedford QL lorry 
 

The Ministry of Supply was abolished in late 1959 and its responsibilities 

passed to the Ministry of Aviation, the War Office, and the Air Ministry. The  

latter two ministries were subsequently merged with the Admiralty to form the 

Ministry of Defence, in 1964.   

In 1962, AORG was renamed the Army Operational Research Establishment 

(AORE). 

  

Figure 35. Military wargame at AORE 

(from a BBC documentary) 

CSEE 

From 1955 until 1960, the Clothing and Stores Experiment Establishment was 

also based at Broadoaks.  In 1960 it was relocated to Farnborough as the 

Clothing and Experimental Physiological Research Establishment. 
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DOAE 

Following the creation of the 

Ministry of Defence, AORG 

became the Defence Operational 

Analysis Establishment (DOAE) 

in 1965.  Its role thus expanded 

across all three services. 

The expanded role meant a 

need for additional staff and 

additional accommodation for 

them. 

 

 

Figure 36. DOAE recruitment 

advertisement 1975 

 

In 1963, permission was granted to extend Broadoaks to provide 100,000 sq ft 

of floor space to accommodate 300 people.27  However, the plans were not 

approved until 1974. 

 

Figure 37. Additions to the site 

 
27 Surrey Advertiser 22 June 1963 
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A large, L-shaped, wing, three storeys high, was connected onto the western 

end of Broadoaks house (see Figure 37).  This was flat-roofed, rectangular in 

cross-section and looked rather incongruous next to the old house, but it was 

practical.  The new wing was built on the site of the two villas, Melbene and 

Bindon.  A new staff canteen was built a year or so later. 

 
Figure 38. Broadoaks house, new wing and staff canteen 

(left to right) 

The progress made in computer technology was an obvious boon to the 

analysis community and, in 1968, a state-of-the-art computer building was 

built to the south of the new wing (then still to be built).  This was later 

extended, to the north to allow for larger computers and additional ancillaries, 

and to the south for additional offices for computer staff. 

 

 
Figure 39. Computer room 1980s 

 

 

Figure 40. Advertisement 

July 1969 
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The new wing was used by the analysts, 

and some of the outbuildings still by 

technicians.  The old house was occupied 

by the management and admin staff.  The 

ground floor of the two Tennant 

extensions (the music room and boudoir) 

were used for briefings, conferences and 

functions. 

 

 

 

Figure 41. Briefing in the 

former music room 

 

Married Quarters 

Because of the regularity with which service personnel were posted, the 

Ministry of Defence would endeavour to provide rented houses for service 

personnel with families. These are known as married quarters or service family 

accommodation. 

In the 1950s, a small 

housing estate was built, 

comprised of six detached 

houses.  These were 

married quarters for some 

of the military officers 

stationed at AORE.  The 

road was named Hobbs 

Close. 

During the late 1950s, a 

larger housing estate was 

built in the southern part 

of the Broadoaks estate. 

Comprising Broadoaks 

Crescent, Bourne Close, 

Bucks Close, Dodds 

Crescent, and Wey Close, 

it provides 61 detached 

houses. 

 
Figure 42. Map showing Hobbs Close and Broadoaks 

Crescent etc 

DERA 

Following the election of Margaret Thatcher’s Conservative Government in 

1979, there was a political drive to make government departments more 

efficient and more accountable. 
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As part of the overall principle of amalgamation and 

efficiency, the Army Management Service (A MAN S) and 

Management Accounting Services (Army) (MAS(A)) were co-

located with DOAE at Broadoaks, in 1982. 

Like most large Western nations with substantial defence 

commitments, the UK had developed a large defence 

research organisation covering sea, land, air and command 

& control systems.  The capabilities were distributed over a 

number of establishments.  Following a comprehensive 

review, the decision was taken in 1988 to create the 

Defence Research Agency (DRA), to come into existence on 

1st April 1991.  DRA was an amalgamation of the various 

(non-nuclear) research establishments in the MOD.  

Because both the agency and its principal customers were 

owned by the Secretary of State for Defence, who could not 

contract with himself, a legal contract was not possible.  

However the relationship was established so that to all 

intents and purposes a proper contractual relationship 

existed.28 

Whilst DOAE was not to be a part of DRA, the same 

principles of efficiency and accountability were applied 

and, on 1st July 1992, DOAE became the Defence 

Operational Analysis Centre (DOAC).  Although not a true 

agency, DOAC introduced many of the management 

processes, including project management and accounting 

and time recording for personnel and facilities.  

In 1995, further amalgamation and rationalisation took 

place with the creation of the Defence Evaluation and 

Research Agency (DERA).  This added the Nuclear & 

Biological, and Testing & Evaluation capabilities, and 

DOAC to the DRA.   

  

Figure 43. Woking 

Informer 27 February 

1986 

DOAC and the analysis divisions of the former DRA formed the Centre for 

Defence Analysis (CDA).  DOAC became the high levels studies division of CDA: 

CDA(HLS).29 

In July 1996, CDA (HLS) relocated to Farnborough Airfield, one of the main 

DERA sites.  The Broadoaks site was closed and put up for sale. 

The old house and the model dairy were both Grade II listed, on 2nd July 

1997. 

 
28 Reorganisation of Evaluation and Research to Support Future Defence Procurement, paper 

presented at the AGARD FVP Symposium, Drammen, Norway September 1997 
29 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a74da92ed915d502d6cb853/Dstl_s_history.pdf 
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INLAND REVENUE REGIONAL PROCESSING CENTRE 

In the 1980s, the Inland Revenue decided to computerise its processing of pay-

as-you-earn (PAYE) income tax.  This was achieved in 1984.  Cards that 

recorded annual tax information were replaced by twelve regional databases 

that stored the tax records of individuals based on the location of their 

employer. 

 
 

 

Figure 44. Staines & Egham 
News 13 March 1986  

 

Splitting the databases in this way was not by 

design:  The PAYE records of UK taxpayers were 

simply too large to accommodate in any single 

system at that time.   

The South-east Regional Processing Centre was 

built at West Byfleet, on land part of the 

Broadoaks estate. The centre, named Wey 

House, was opened in November 1985. 

The databases had no automatic data feed 

between them, so individuals with more than 

one concurrent employment or with multiple 

pension sources often found themselves dealing 

with different tax offices, in different parts of the 

country, to try to bring together their infor-

mation through sending messages on paper 

between tax offices.30 

Attempts to collate information were arduous 

both for the Inland Revenue in locating and 

sharing data with itself and for taxpayers who 

generally bore the  brunt of having to supply the 
 

information needed to reconcile their annual tax calculation. 

To manage the burgeoning workload and increased burden on employers, the 

Revenue turned to IT solutions.  Electronic data interface (EDI) provided the 

means for payroll bureaux and employers to make returns over a secure 

computer network from 1998 and the impact was immediate.31  The regional 

processing centres became obsolete. 

 
30 https://www.taxation.co.uk/articles/2011-09-21-280681-paye-story 
31 https://www.taxation.co.uk/articles/2011-09-21-280681-paye-story, David Gauke MP 

Exchequer secretary to the Treasury 

https://www.taxation.co.uk/articles/2011-09-21-280681-paye-story
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DEVELOPMENT 

The Ministry of Defence sold the Broadoaks estate in 1998.  It was purchased 

by Leading Rule Ltd. 

LEADING RULE LIMITED 

In 2002, Leading Rule Ltd submitted plans for the development of Broadoaks, 

as a business park.  Three new buildings would be erected (A, B, and C in 

Figure 45) and Broadoaks house would be converted into a conference centre. 

 
Figure 45. Plan for business park 

The plans were submitted to the Secretary of State for the Environment, 

Transport and The Regions and were approved in December 2000, subject to a 

number of conditions.   

The short leg of the ‘L’ of the new wing and the computer building were both 

demolished.  Work was started on the ornamental lakes.   
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Figure 46. Work suspended, 2008 

The building in the foreground was the main gate reception, the roof-top behind was  

the staff canteen.  The long leg of the New Wing can be seen beyond. 

Wey House was also demolished and Building C, Sherwood House, was 

constructed on the site, but was never occupied. 

 
Figure 47. Building C, Sherwood House 

A petition to wind up Leading Rule Ltd was presented to the High Court of 

Justice, on 20th November 2008, by Waterman Building Services, claiming to 

be a creditor of the company.32  A liquidator was named and a statement of the 

company’s affairs, dated 11 December 2008, gave the company’s assets as nil 

and liabilities as £2,124,303. 

 
32 In the High Court of Justice (Chancery Division), Companies Court No 10397 of 2008, In the 

Matter of LEADING RULE LTD and in the Matter of the Insolvency Act 1986 
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WOKING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

In 2002, Woking Borough Council produced plans for the redevelopment of 

Broadoaks. 33,34  These plans are sealed for 30 years so will not be available to 

view until 2030. 

BROADOAKS PARK 

By 2016, the site had been acquired by Octagon Developments and they 

presented plans for a residential park. 

 
Figure 48. Satellite view of Broadoaks site, c2020 

Broadoaks Park is delivering 151 new houses set within a landscaped park.  

The coach house has been renovated and converted to six 2-bedroom 

apartments.  Both of the lodges are renovated and converted to detached 

dwellings.  The main house is being renovated and converted into a pair of 

houses; the wall to which the new wing attached being partly remodelled. 

Conversion of Broadoaks house was expected to be completed in 2024. 

 
33 SHC, CC989/76, Proof of evidence and appendices prepared by Anthony Blee Consultancy for 
the redevelopment of the Broadoaks estate by Woking Borough Council 
34 SHC, CC989/77, Architect’s plans for proposed redevelopment of the Broadoaks estate 
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Figure 49. Proposed ground floor layout of Broadoaks as two houses 
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Figure 50. Satellite view of Broadoaks site, 2023 

 
Figure 51. Coach house 

 
Figure 52. East Lodge 
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The two summer houses (described in 

the 1919 sales brochure as ‘tea 

lodges’) are being restored and 

relocated. 

 
Figure 53. Original summer house 

The original plan for Broadoaks Park included the conversion of Sherwood 

House into a private secondary school for 900 pupils.  For commercial and 

financial reasons, this has not happened.  Highfields retirement home, 

comprising 75 ‘later living homes’ for over-60s, has been built on the site,  

offering one and two-bedroom apartments available to buy or rent. 

 
Figure 54. Highfields 
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